IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,697

SEBURT NELSON CONNOR,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

LOUIS CAMPBELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0833320

Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and a sentence of death, entered after a jury trial. In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R." and the transcript of the proceedings as "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Seburt Connor was arrested in November 1992 for the murder of Lawrence Goodine, the burglary of the Goodine home, and the kidnapping and murder of Jessica Goodine. (R. 1-3). Mr. Connor was indigent. The court appointed Louis M. Jepeway, Jr. to represent him. At Mr. Jepeway's request, the court appointed Eugene Zenobi as second chair. (R. 22; T. 8-9).

Motions to Suppress and First Competency Hearing

The defense moved to suppress statements Mr. Connor made after he was taken to the police station, articles of clothing seized from him at that time, and evidence seized from his residence and automobile. (R. 91-104). A hearing on the motions to suppress began in December 1995. (T. 113-522). After testimony was taken from both sides, the hearing was interrupted to determine whether Mr. Connor was competent to proceed. (T. 527). On their own initiative, the jail personnel had moved Mr. Connor to the area reserved for mentally-ill inmates, and three doctors consulted by the defense had determined that he was not competent. (T. 527-30). The court appointed additional mental health experts to examine Mr. Connor. (T. 529-30, 540).

The court heard testimony from the expert witnesses (Drs. Hyman H. Eisenstein, Bill E. Mosman, Sanford Jacobson, and Lazaro Garcia) in March, April, and June 1996 (T. 566-663, 683-756, 767-927). Mr. Connor was a 53-year-old black man, originally from Honduras. He was of low average intelligence and had a speech impediment (stuttering). (T. 577, 684, 834, 836). He suffered from hypertension and vascular disease. (T. 690-91, 700). There was evidence of brain damage and paranoid thinking. (T. 578-83, 595-96, 714, 729, 774-80, 806-8, 814, 838-39,862). He was not malingering. (T. 595, 717). In fact, he wanted to be seen as a competent person. (T. 801).

Drs. Eisenstein and Mosman believed that Mr. Connor was incompetent; Drs. Jacobson and Garcia believed him competent. The court ruled that Mr. Connor was competent to stand trial. (T. 930).

At this point, the prosecutor suggested that there was a conflict of interest between Mr. Jepeway and Mr. Connor. (T. 930-31). Mr. Connor had filed a complaint against Mr. Jepeway with the Florida Bar and had written several letters to the judge complaining about the behavior of both his counsel. (T. 551, 667-70). Copies of letters to his attorneys and to other persons, such as the Governor, accompanied these materials. The court had questioned Mr. Connor about these allegations before and during the competency hearing, and now questioned him again. (T. 551-64, 671-78, 931-35).

According to Mr. Connor, Mr. Jepeway and his investigator tricked Connor's wife into giving them a briefcase containing valuable coins, watches, and jewelry as well as \$25,000 to \$30,000 worth of uncollected receipts from his trading business. They had kept the briefcase and its contents. (T. 556-62). Neither of his lawyers had shown any interest in bringing him to trial and as a result he had been falsely incarcerated for several years, as everyone knew. (T. 551-54, 564, 674-78). The police, the jail personnel, the state, Mr. Jepeway, and Mr. Zenobi were all using "surreptitious tricks" in an effort to have him declared incompetent and to deny him a trial. (R. 402). The competency hearing was part of the plot. (T. 669-70). His attorneys had employed psychiatrists to write false reports. (R. 402). They had also sent someone from the State Attorney's Office to convince him to plead insanity. (T. 562-64). In addition, the guards had stolen his court clothes, which he calculated were worth \$1,666. (R. 428-433). However, "these surruptitious [sic] tricks are not working by taking away my court clothes and sending men to ple[a] with me these tricks are not working and never will." (R. 421).

When Mr. Connor stated that there were witnesses to substantiate the allegations in the Bar complaint, Mr. Jepeway attempted to question Mr. Connor

3

regarding these allegations, arguing that further inquiry was needed to determine whether Mr. Connor was delusional. (T. 933-34, 936-37). The court would not permit this, stating that Mr. Connor had been found competent and, for purposes of determining the existence of a conflict of interest, the substantive truth of the Bar complaint did not matter. (T. 934-37).

On June 20, 1996, the court discharged Mr. Jepeway (denying his requests for further inquiry of Mr. Connor) and appointed Mr. Zenobi. (T. 949-54). The court emphasized that the discharge did not indicate that the court had found the allegations against Mr. Jepeway to be credible. (T. 952-54).

The motions to suppress were denied on September 26, 1996. (R. 435-41).

Second Competency Hearing

Jury selection began in June 1997. However, after several days of voir dire, the <u>prosecutor</u> requested that experts be appointed to examine Mr. Connor to determine if he was competent. (T. 1972). The court discharged the prospective jurors and appointed three experts. (T. 1973-76, 1989-97). The second competency hearing was held on January 20, 1998. (T. 2051-2146). The court found that Mr. Connor was competent. (T. 2145-46).

Trial and Sentence

A jury trial was held in January and February 1998. The defendant was convicted on all counts as charged. The jury recommended life imprisonment for the murder of Lawrence Goodine and, by a vote of 8-4, recommended a sentence of death for the murder of Jessica Goodine.

The trial court found that Connor suffered from organic brain damage, paranoia, and "some form of significant emotional disturbance." (R. 2207, 2214). It was "apparent" that he was mentally ill (R. 2214) and "seriously troubled." (R. 2207). However, the court did not believe that his mental illness and emotional disturbance were sufficiently severe to justify finding any statutory mental mitigators. Finding five aggravators and four nonstatutory mitigators, the court sentenced Mr. Connor to death for the murder of Jessica Goodine. He was sentenced to life for the murder of Lawrence Goodine, and to consecutive sentences of twenty years for the kidnapping and burglary. (R. 2218).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1942-1979

Seburt Connor was born on June 5, 1942, in Roatan, one of the Bay Islands of Honduras. (R. 115; T. 4762). At age 19, he became a seaman in the merchant marine. (T. 4762). In 1965 he settled in Miami. (T. 4763). He married Dorothy in 1967 and bought a small house. (T. 4764, 5354). The couple had five children. (T. 4761-62).

In 1970 Mr. Connor was hired by Dade County. He was a hardworking, punctual, and enthusiastic employee, who showed initiative and had excellent attendance. (T. 583, 5700-1). By the mid-1970s he had attained the position of

operator of heavy equipment (trucks, payloaders, backhoes) (T. 4767) and had achieved a modest prosperity. He was able to buy a small two-bedroom house just down the block from his first house. (T. 4764). He took pride in supporting his family. The trial court found that Mr. Connor was a loving and caring father to his children, supporting them financially and encouraging them to live good moral lives, and to get an education. (R. 2216). Two of his children (Garla and Erica) graduated from college. (T. 5341, 5379-80).

1979-1986

Some time in the late 1970s, Mr. Connor commenced an extra-marital affair with Margaret Bennett. Margaret eventually broke off the affair after she realized that Seburt was married. (T. 3724-25). She married Lawrence Goodine, twenty years her senior, in 1979. (T. 3725). They had two children: Karen, born in July 1979, and Jessica, born in 1982. (R. 112, 123; T. 382).

Until the early 1980s, Mr. Connor's job performance evaluations continued to be favorable, despite a number of altercations with other employees over the years. (T. 583-84, 5700-1).¹ However, in 1983, he was terminated after he allegedly

¹In 1971, another truck driver repeatedly parked in the area Connor was using to refill the water truck he was driving. Connor left notes but these were ignored. He then placed a note on the windshield allegedly indicating that the truck would blow up when the engine was started. (T. 5560-61, 5699). In 1973, he allegedly brandished a machete at a member of the work crew who ignored his instructions not to ride on top of the truck. (T. 5563, 5699). In 1977, he had a fight with another employee over moving some "angle irons." (T. 5563-64).

harassed a female co-worker. (T. 5566, 5568, 5700). Although he appealed and was reinstated, from this time forward his job performance deteriorated. (T. 5701-2). He was now continuously in trouble with his supervisors and received numerous disciplinary reports. (T. 5704-6). Finally, in September 1986, he was fired because his conduct "impair[ed] the operation of the whole unit." (T. 5706).

Mr. Connor believed that his difficulties with his supervisors stemmed from his protests at having been passed over for a promotion because of favoritism. He was convinced that there had been a conspiracy, encompassing his labor union and his own son, to get him fired. (T. 584, 687, 5694-95).

1986-1992

After he was fired, Mr. Connor worked at a succession of temporary jobs. (T. 4767). He also pursued a workman's compensation claim which, in 1988, was settled for \$50,000. (T. 584-85, 644-45, 713).

In 1988, Ms. Goodine, who had by then separated from her husband, renewed her relationship with Mr. Connor. (T. 3727, 3790-91). Mr. Connor went to Ms. Goodine's house almost every day, helped her with household expenses, and gave her presents, such as dresses, perfume, or jewelry. (T. 3727-28, 3795-96, 4770).

Mr. Connor loved and cared for Ms. Goodine's daughter Jessica as if she was

These incidents resulted in administrative complaints. He had no criminal convictions. (T. 5703).

his own child. Jessica loved him very much and called him "daddy." (T. 3800-4, 4513-15, 4602-3, 4606). Mr. Goodine would sometimes come by the house when Mr. Connor was there; the two men never argued. (T. 3798).

Mr. Connor had a trading business in which, with the help of friends and relatives in Honduras, he shipped new and used items to the Bay Islands for resale. He was also planning to build a hotel or resort there. (T. 4779-81, 4830-43, 4872-73, 4901). Ms. Goodine participated in these business activities. (T. 4872-73, 4876).

Mr. Connor was also pursuing a civil suit against the City of Miami Police Department. He claimed that he had been falsely arrested in 1989 for shoplifting a 79 cent chapstick, and that the arresting officers had stolen \$900 (or \$9100) from his wallet. (T. 586, 5559, 5592-93, 5669). The suit was ultimately dismissed in May 1992. (T. 586, 5669). Mr. Connor was convinced that the judge had been bought off, and was part of a conspiracy against him. (T. 586, 5669-70). Thereafter he attempted to refile a civil rights action. (T. 586-87).

In 1991, Mr. Connor's father was hacked to death in Honduras. (T. 646-48, 5670). Mr. Connor believed that his father was killed in order to steal a large amount of money that Connor had given to him. Mr. Connor had been very close to his father and was never the same afterwards. (T. 5670).

Mr. Connor and Ms. Goodine had a falling out. On February 10, 1992, the police came to the house because Connor had "started a verbal altercation" with Ms.

Goodine, and refused to leave. (R. 115). A couple of months later, she told him that she did not want to see him anymore, and he left the house. (T. 3728-29, 4585). According to Ms. Goodine, he continued to call her, telling her that he "will never see me with nobody else." (T. 3732). On April 15, 1992, Ms. Goodine reported to the police that while she was in the house "unknown persons" broke a window pane and the front-porch light fixture by "unknown means." (R. 116). Her neighbor, Ann Merrit, testified that she had witnessed Mr. Connor shoot at the house as he drove by in his car. (T. 3921). According to Ms. Merrit, after Ms. Goodine broke up with Connor, she often saw him drive slowly past the house in a Camaro. (T. 3925-26, 3950).

Apparently Mr. Connor was concerned that Ms. Goodine was seeing men other than himself or her husband. One night he poured paint over a car that was parked in front of Ms. Goodine's house, mistakenly believing that it belonged to a Haitian man, Juan Swan, who lived next door to Ms. Goodine. (T. 3736-38, 4508-9, 4518).

On May 14, 1992, Ms. Goodine reported that an "unknown male," whom she suspected was acting at the instigation of Seburt Connor, had made threatening phone calls to her next-door neighbor, Alice McLaughlin, over the course of the past week. (R. 111). The man told Ms. McLaughlin that he was going to kill Ms. Goodine's daughter Karen. Ms. Goodine herself had received a phone call from an unknown male, who asked her if she had received the message, and then stated that "If Mr. Sebert is not at the Rolex [bar] at 10 o'clock, your daughter Karen will be killed." (R. 111). At trial, Ms. McLaughlin testified that the caller had threatened to kill Ms. Goodine and Karen, and that she thought the caller was Mr. Connor. (T. 4600-1, 4604).

On July 18, 1992, Ms. Goodine reported to the police that an unknown subject had thrown a brick through a window of her home. She suspected Mr. Connor because she had gotten into a "verbal altercation" with him a few hours before. (R. 113). Ten days later, on July 28, 1992, Ms. Goodine obtained an ex parte domestic violence injunction against Mr. Connor. (T. 3738-39, 3753-54). While she was at the courthouse her black Cadillac was stolen. (T. 3738-39). The car was recovered by the police a week later. (T. 3760). A permanent injunction was issued on August 19, 1992. Mr. Connor was present in the courtroom and was instructed by the judge to stay away from Ms. Goodine's residence and place of employment. (T. 3760).

On August 23, 1992, Ms. Goodine reported to the police that the previous day someone had entered the house and taken dresses, skirts, bed sheets, and pillow cases from the master bedroom. (R. 108-9). The next day, Hurricane Andrew struck, and Ms. Goodine moved to a friend's house. (T. 4596). A couple of days later, Mr. Connor drove up to Ms. Goodine's residence and told her neighbor, Alice McLaughlin, that "he knows all of Margaret's whereabouts." (T. 4596).

Ms. McLaughlin attempted to effect a reconciliation between Mr. Connor and

Ms. Goodine. Ms. McLaughlin invited him into her house and then went to get Ms. Goodine, to see if things could be straightened out between them. (T. 4588-89). Ms. Goodine pleaded with Mr. Connor to leave her alone. He told her that "if she would go back to Larry he wouldn't bother her anymore." (T. 4593, 4605).

On September 13, 1992, Ms. Goodine reported another burglary to her home. The burglar had broken a window. Nothing of value (such as the television) was taken. The only things that were missing were sheets from her bed, towels, linens, and personal toiletry items such as perfume, makeup, and her toothbrush. She told the police that she suspected Mr. Connor and was afraid of him. (R. 121-22).

Ms. Goodine asked her husband to come back to the house, because she was afraid of Connor, and he had promised to leave her alone if she took her husband back. (T. 3761-62, 3770, 3793-94, 3807-8, 4605, 4793-94, 5335-36). She was not in love with Mr. Goodine, and he continued to maintain a separate household. (T. 3807, 3945).

On September 21, 1992, Ms. Goodine and Mr. Goodine reported yet another burglary. They believed Connor was responsible because the only items taken were women's clothing and linens. (R. 118-19). In all, there had been four or five similar burglaries. (T. 3735). Only Ms. Goodine's personal things were taken. (T. 3733).

Throughout this period, Mr. Connor was frequently in Ms. Goodine's neighborhood. He had numerous conversations with her neighbors (Ms. McLaughlin

and Ms. Merrit), and with her cousin Anita Webb, whom he saw almost every day. He told Ms. Webb many times that he had not committed the burglaries. (T. 4510, 4520). However, he called Ms. Webb one day to tell her to go to a certain address where she would find Ms. Goodine's clothes. (T. 4511). He also told Ms. Webb on many occasions that he was going to get Lawrence "out of his misery" because "he didn't like what Margaret was doing to Larry." (T. 4511). He told Ms. Merrit that he believed she (Ms. Merrit) and Mr. Goodine "had put down a voodoo to break him and Margaret up." (T. 3931).

Mr. Connor told Ms. Webb that he was going to buy a car exactly like that of Ms. Goodine. (T. 4510). In late October 1992, he bought a 1986 black Cadillac, the same make, model, and color as Ms. Goodine's car. (T. 4172-73). At trial, Mr. Connor explained that while he was living with Ms. Goodine he had often driven her car and had fallen in love with it. (T. 4855-56). Ms. Merrit testified that she had seen a 1986 black Cadillac drive slowly through the neighborhood. (T. 3928).

The Disappearance of Jessica and Lawrence Goodine, November 19-20, 1992

On Thursday, November 19, 1992, Margaret Goodine left for work at 9:30 a.m. Her daughters Karen and Jessica had already left for school. Mr. Goodine remained at the residence. (T. 3773). Mr. Goodine was last seen at about 2:30 p.m., when he returned to Ms. Goodine's residence after doing repair work at his other house. (T. 3933, 3945). Later that afternoon, Jessica Goodine came home from school and went across the street to Ms. Merrit's house, to play with Ms. Merrit's seven-year-old daughter Faisha Thomas. (T. 3827-28, 3934-35, 3946). While the girls were playing in the front yard, they noticed a black Cadillac at the Goodine home. (T. 3827-29, 3935). The car looked like that of Jessica's mother. (T. 3829). Jessica went home. (T. 3829).

Later, Jessica returned to the Merrit's house "to ask a question" (T. 3935), and to tell Faisha that she was going to leave (T. 3829). She then went back to her home. (T. 3829). Subsequently, Faisha saw her friend leaving in the black Cadillac. (T. 3830, 3957). Jessica was in the front passenger seat. A man was driving. Faisha assumed that the man was Jessica's father, but she could only see the back of his head. (T. 3830, 3837, 3839-40). Faisha did not see Jessica enter the Cadillac, or walk up to it. She only saw Jessica after she was already in the car. She did not observe any fighting or any "words." (T. 3834-36).

Jessica's sister Karen came home at about 6:00 p.m. (T. 3955). Karen called her mother, who was still at work, to tell her that Mr. Goodine and Jessica were not at home and it appeared that someone had been in the house. (T. 3776-77). The police were called (T. 3936-38), and investigated the scene between 7:00 and 7:40 p.m. (R. 123-24).

Ms. Goodine came home at 9:30 p.m. (T. 3954). Jessica and Mr. Goodine were

still missing. Ms. Goodine called the police and reported her suspicion that Mr. Connor had something to do with their disappearance. (T. 3777-78). At about 9:30 or 10:00 p.m., an officer made a phone call to the Connor residence. The officer said she was investigating Jessica's disappearance and spoke to both Mr. and Mrs. Connor. (T. 198-202, 244-46). The officer asked if they owned a black Cadillac and whether Mr. Connor knew the Goodine family. (T. 201, 4906-9).

Detective Juan Murias went to the Goodine residence at 11:45 p.m. (T. 3593). He spoke to Ms. Goodine, who related the events of that afternoon and evening and explained the circumstances leading to the restraining order against Mr. Connor. (T. 3955-56). Detective Murias then went to the Connor residence at about 3:00 a.m., Friday, November 20, 1992. (T. 495, 3956). A black Cadillac was parked on the property. (T. 3957). Murias told Mrs. Connor he wanted to speak to her husband. Mr. Connor was in the cottage, and Mrs. Connor went to get him. (T. 496, 3957-58).

After asking Mr. Connor to step into his police car, Murias explained that he was investigating the disappearance of Jessica and Lawrence Goodine. (T. 497-98, 3959). Mr. Connor told the detective that although he had had a relationship with Ms. Goodine for about a year, he no longer wanted anything to do with her and had not seen her in the last month. (T. 499, 3960). He said he had not had contact with Jessica or Lawrence Goodine that afternoon. (T. 3960). He did not express concern about the fact that Jessica and Lawrence were missing. (T. 3960-61). He seemed

calm and unemotional. (T. 3960).

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