IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,697

SEBURT NELSON CONNOR,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441

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

The previous relationship of Seburt Connor and Jessica Goodine

was a loving, father-daughter relationship. Mr. Connor had lived as Jessica's "step-father" in her home with her mother Margaret, her sister Karen and herself. The defendant himself described the relationship with Jessica as a loving one. The phone threats of Seburt Connor toward Margaret and Karen Goodine never included Jessica. The burglaries and stalkings were directed at Margaret. Thus, there was no animosity against Jessica involved. Jessica was ten (10) years old. She had no money, nor wielded no other power over the defendant except that she could identify him as the perpetrator of the burglary of her home, and thus, her father's murderer. But for the mistake of believing that it was her mother's car in the driveway and running home from her friend's house, she might be alive today.

The evidence shows that her mouth was taped with duct tape at some time before her death and then removed. Seburt Connor was clearly trying to prevent Jessica Goodine from speaking out as to his identity. His demeanor within hours after the murder, when questioned, showed no signs of rage or panic. Her death was the ultimate elimination of his identification and, clearly the dominant and, by all evidence in the record, the only motive for her murder. The Court finds this aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt by the State. The Court gives this aggravating factor great weight.

(R. 2202-03) (footnote omitted).

The Appellant has hypothesized that the Defendant may not have known that anyone was present at the Goodine house; that he thus did not intend to commit any crimes except taking personal property as he had before; that Jessica had not witnessed any crimes and the Defendant was not concerned about what she had seen; and that the Defendant killed the child in a panic because she had cried. The Appellant's suggestions are all refuted by the record. First, as noted by the trial judge, the Defendant, by virtue of having lived in the Goodine house (R. 2213), and

having stalked them for a period of months, was well familiar with the household's routine. Any suggestion that the Defendant did not know anyone was home and did not intend other crimes is negated by the evidence that Lawrence had parked his car in front of the house at the time of his murder, as was his custom whenever he was home, and that Jessica had returned from school at the same hour that she usually did. Moreover, the Goodines' older daughter was due and in fact came home from school, shortly after the Defendant left the Goodine residence. Ms. Webb testified that it was her custom to check on the children after their return from school and when their mother was working. The Defendant's suggestion that the Defendant had the opportunity to kill Jessica at the Goodine residence is thus also refuted, especially in light of the additional fact that the Defendant had spent a good amount of time cleaning up the house to prevent detection of Lawrence's murder.

Likewise, the suggestion that Jessica had not witnessed any crimes and had voluntarily traveled with the Defendant in his Cadillac is without merit. Whether Jessica actually witnessed her father's killing is not relevant. The salient fact is that she could place the Defendant at the scene of the murder (the Goodine house) and at the time of the murder. The Defendant was not supposed to be anywhere near the Goodine residence, in accordance with the prior restraining order against him.

⁵ Furthermore, the Defendant had repeatedly threatened Lawrence's life in the past.

Moreover, the evidence reflected that Jessica had not left voluntarily. Her best friend testified that Jessica would always wave at her when leaving in the car; Jessica had not done so when seen leaving the Goodine residence in the Defendant's Cadillac.

Furthermore, Jessica was present when the Defendant had transported Lawrence's bloody body on the back seat of the same vehicle she was in. While the Appellant argues that Lawrence's body may have been in the trunk of the Cadillac, the latter's blood was only matched to that on the back seat of this car, and not to any blood in the trunk. As noted by the trial judge, there was no evidence that the Defendant's black Cadillac had traveled back and forth to the Goodines' home to attempt separate transportation of the father and child. The neighbors, Ms. Webb and her daughter, both testified as to the arrival and departure of the Cadillac that afternoon.

The Appellant's fit of rage or panic argument, based on the alleged crying of the child, is likewise without merit. There was no evidence of rage or panic. Jessica was killed 24 hours after being abducted from her house. Before her killing, the Defendant had cleaned up the prior murder scene, and dumped Lawrence's body in a remote area in Dade County to avoid detection. Subsequently, Jessica had been "trussed up" in a comforter, to confine her movement. The child's mouth had also been taped shut with duct tape to prevent her from making any sounds. Moreover,

Jessica's "tremendously puffy" eyelids reflected a prolonged period of crying, not a sudden burst of tears. (T. 5321-23). The child's body was also hidden under the Defendant's bed, tied in a bundle ready for disposal, like that of her father's.

Furthermore, the Defendant continuously and consistently denied ever even being in the presence of the child, let alone having panicked. To the contrary, the evidence reflected that only hours <u>before</u> killing Jessica, the Defendant had talked with Detective Murias and had denied any knowledge of the whereabouts in a "very cool, calm, quiet, very serene," manner (T. 3960-61). Likewise, only hours after the murder, the Defendant had remained calm during his questioning by Detective Tymes.

The Defendant's reliance upon the testimony of Drs. Mosman and Eisenstein, that he could not plan, organize or make decisions at any time, is also without merit. This testimony was based only upon these experts' diagnoses of ongoing paranoid schizophrenia and organic brain syndrome. It was not based upon the circumstances of the crime, as the Defendant had never discussed these with the experts. The defense experts' diagnosis was expressly controverted and negated by that of five (5) other psychologists and psychiatrists, some of whom had reviewed the "raw testing data" from the defense experts' own examinations, and some of whom had administered the same tests. The defense experts' testimony was also contradicted

by the Defendant's employment records, his ability on the day of Jessica's murder to drive a forty foot tractor from Dade County to Palm Beach County while making at least ten separate deliveries, his trial testimony, and his life circumstances in having maintained a family, both financially and emotionally, for a period of more than 20 years. The Appellant's reliance on the "witless" behavior of the Defendant in wearing bloody socks and shoes, leaving his bloody clothing on the floor, and leaving blood inside his vehicle is likewise without merit. The Defendant explained that his socks and shoes were bloodied by a cut on his ankle while being transported by the police; that the bloody pants recovered from his house did not belong to him; and that, the police had planted the blood found in his vehicle. As noted by one of the experts, Dr. Jacobson, the Defendant's explanation was not indicative of illness, rather, "it's the kind of a defense or excuse that someone might use if you don't have a better one." (T. 708).

In sum, the trial court's findings, which were well supported by the factual record and applied the correct rule of law, should be affirmed. Willacy, supra; Correll, supra. Assuming, arguendo, that this Court finds the witness elimination factor to be invalid, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. First, the weighty aggravators of a prior murder, HAC and kidnapping have not been challenged herein. More importantly, the trial judge in her sentencing order stated: "This Court has

found the aggravating factor of witness elimination. This Court expressly finds that should the reviewing Court conclude that this factor was not established beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court has weighed the remaining aggravating factors together with the mitigating factors and concludes that a sentence of death is warranted." (R. 2217).

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE MURDER TO BE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED.

The Defendant argues that the trial judge improperly found the CCP aggravator. Once again, a trial court's findings of an aggravator should be affirmed where the trial court applies the correct rule of law, and competent, substantial evidence supports the finding. Willacy, 696 So. 2d at 695; Raleigh, 705 So. 2d at 1328. The trial court herein expressly stated: "The court understands that while the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravator applies more to the nature of the killing (and the victim's suffering), the cold, calculated and premeditated nature of the murder pertains to the mind, intent and motivation of the killer. Stano v. State, 460 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 1985)." (R. 2206). The trial judge found Jessica's murder to have been cold, calculated and premeditated, as follows:

The defendant took Jessica Goodine from her home. He hid her for a full day while contemplating his decision to murder her. The manner he chose to murder the child for whom he professed affection was especially cold. The type of murder he chose was one which was noiseless but not instantaneous. Dr. Rao testified that she struggled in her last moments, indicated by the hemorrhage in the gum margins. The defendant coldly and calculatingly hid the child. When questioned by Detective Sarah Times, he did not show any anger or any emotion. He was calm, cool and collected. His responses were thoughtful and enigmatic. "Do I look like a killer?", he asked Detective Times.

Mr. Connor witnessed all of the child's tears and struggles, first as he bound her and gagged her, and hours later as he placed his hands around her throat pressing harder and harder until her life was ended. He chose a specific manner and means of death. He had a significant period of time to contemplate and consider his alternatives.

The Court finds that the elapsed time of a full day between the kidnaping and the murder indicates a heightened premeditation. There is no evidence that his actions were performed in a rage or a panic. The Court does not believe that the defendant's mental illness, that is, some organicity and some paranoid ideation, reached such a severity that it interfered with Mr. Connor's ability to perceive events, or to coldly plan and carry out his murder of Jessica. Rather, the manner and means of death were done in a highly premeditated fashion, without any moral or legal justification. The Court finds that the State has proved this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt and gives it great weight. (R. 2205-06).

The trial judge also noted:

The most chilling type of planning, and clear evidence of Mr. Connor's ability to plan and to understand the significance of his actions was in his purchase of a black Cadillac that matched in every detail the Cadillac belonging to Margaret Goodine. This car was purchased less than thirty days before the murder. It was the defendant's car that stood in front of the Goodine residence and drew little Jessica home on the day of her abduction. While Mr. Connor may not have planned that specific result (although having lived with the Goodines', he knew the time the children came home from school), his use of the vehicle made his accessability (burglary) to the Goodine residence easier and undetected. This scheme was not irrational or psychotic. It was diabolical. (R.

2213).

The Appellant first contends that there was no heightened premeditation, no coldness and no calculation. The trial judge's findings, however, are in accordance with this Court's precedent. See Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488, 492 (Fla. 1998). First, the "heightened premeditation" and "calculated" elements, "can be evidenced by a 'degree of deliberate ruthlessness.'" 717 So. 2d at 492, citing Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994). These elements may also be established where the defendant has the opportunity to leave a prior crime scene and not commit murder, but does so. Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 162 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, when a defendant has had an "entire day" to reflect, the "cold" element of CCP is satisfied. Zakrzewski, 717 So. 2d at 492. Thus, the application of the CCP factor was upheld in that case, where the defendant purchased a machete during his lunch hour, brought it home, placed it behind his bathroom door, and then killed his family members by dragging each into the bathroom, and inflicting blows while they were struggling.

In the instant case, the Defendant had initially lured the child by purchasing a car identical to her mother's, at least a month in advance of the murders. Subsequently, prior to abducting the child, the Defendant had carefully and methodically cleaned the Lawrence Goodine murder scene. He had the opportunity to leave the child at her house, but chose to abduct her instead. He then disposed of

the first body, while keeping Jessica confined in a comforter, with her mouth taped shut. The Defendant then had more than a full day to contemplate his actions with respect to Jessica. During this time he had displayed no panic, rage or other unusual behavior. Instead, during the day of Jessica's murder, the Defendant had gone to work, driving a tractor from Dade to Palm Beach County, and made ten deliveries, without any difficulty. Upon his return, and only hours before killing Jessica, he had spoken with Detective Murias in a "very cool, calm, quiet, very serene," manner. (T. 3960-61). He had then exhibited "deliberate ruthlessness" by facing the helpless child, whom he professed to love and had no prior difficulties with, and strangling her with his hands for a period of at least several minutes. Finally, within hours after the killing, the Defendant had again been questioned by the police, and was again calm and rational. The State respectfully submits that it satisfied all of the elements of the CCP aggravator. Zakzrewski, supra; Walls, supra; Alston, supra; see also, Arbelaez v. State, 626 So. 2d 169, 177 (Fla. 1993) (defendant's overnight plan to drown girlfriend's child, where girlfriend had terminated her relationship with defendant, constituted CCP).

The Defendant's arguments with respect to sudden panic, lack of any prior plan or intent to commit any crimes, and reliance upon mental health experts have been fully addressed in Point II, at pp. 77-80, and the prior arguments are relied upon

herein. Moreover, even "extreme emotional distress" does not preclude the finding of CCP. Zakrzewski, 717 So. 2d at 492; see also, Cruse v. State, 588 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1991). In the instant case, however, as previously noted, the trial judge expressly rejected the defense mental health experts' testimony, which was not only controverted by five other experts, but also by the Defendant's actions on both the day of the crimes and his life prior to these crimes. The triers of fact, after all, may reject mental health opinions which are either controverted or inconsistent with the factual circumstances of the crimes. Walls, 641 So. 2d at 390-91.

Finally, assuming, arguendo, that this Court invalidates this aggravator, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As noted previously, the three (3) weighty aggravators of a prior murder, HAC and kidnapping, have not been challenged. The mitigation found by the trial judge does not rise to the level of statutory factors, either. As noted by the trial judge, the aggravators herein, "far outweigh the mitigating circumstances in this case.... The Court weighed especially heavily the heinous, atrocious and cruel nature of the defendant's acts against an innocent victim who was killed during the felony of kidnaping." (R. 2217). Any error in finding CCP was thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE STATUTORY MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATORS.

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